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Questions Presented 

1. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for 

the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b).  

2. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false 

or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 

liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the 

maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b).  
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Statement of the Case 

Ava Cato is an Italian attorney and a graduate of Sapienza Universita de 

Roma.  (R. at 1).  Ms. Cato formerly served as General Counsel to the Milan-

based company Alcolezzione.  (R. at 1). Alcolezzione is a società per azioni (the 

Italian equivalent of a corporation) with shares listed on the Borsa Italiana.  (R. 

at 2).  Gianni Marconi, the company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and Benny 

Factor, the company’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO), are both American citizens 

and they hold the majority of the company’s shares.  (R. at 2).  Alcolezzione 

markets its products across Europe and the United States. ( R. at 2).  

In the spring of 2017, all three lead executives: Marconi, Factor, and 

Cato, traveled to New York to research Alcollezione’s market in the states.   

While in New York, the three met with Doris Schutt, Factor’s college friend, and 

discussed the future of the company. 

In the summer of 2016, Schutt, an investment banker at Hansen Bank 

and Trust, set up an unsponsored American Depository Receipt (ADR) for 

Alcolezzione.  (R. at 4).  The Alcolezzione ADRs traded over-the-counter (“OTC”) 

and were purchased via phone by various hedge fund managers in New York 

and Connecticut.  (R. at 4).  Although Alcolezzione declined to formally sponsor 

the ADR, Marconi and Factor spoke with Schutt about the possibility of an 

ADR multiple times before she created it.  (R. at 3–4).  When asked for his 

opinion on the ADR, Marconi stated “I’m more of a marketing guy, but any 

friend of Benny’s is a friend of mine.” (R. at 4).  
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Ahead of Alcolezzione’s 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting (“Annual 

Meeting”), Marconi began to be concerned that opportunities for increasing 

market share were becoming scarce as Alcolezzione’s core business areas 

matured.  (R. at 4).  Marconi and Factor decided to build investor confidence 

and to expand Alcolezzione’s market share by developing a line of spiked 

mineral water, called Frizzantissimo.  (R. at 5).  Marconi met with Cato ahead of 

the meeting, seeking assurance that the new product could clear growing 

Italian regulatory hurdles regarding alcoholic sparkling water beverages.  (R. at 

5).  

Cato, who was approaching a mid-year performance review, set aside 

significant time to research the regulatory hurdles that Alcolezzione would face 

when bringing Frizzantissimo to market.  After weeks of assessment, Cato 

expressed that compliance would be “an uphill battle” in the long term and 

“unlikely” in the short term.  (R. at 5).  Marconi insisted that “these things 

always find a way of getting resolved,” and commented, “It’s better to ask 

forgiveness than permission.”  (R. at 5).  Following that conversation, Cato 

maintained her belief that regulatory compliance was unlikely in the short 

term.  (R. at 5).  

Cato, with full knowledge that compliance was unlikely in the short term, 

authored assurances that the product was to be approved and ready for market 

in the second quarter of 2018.  (R. at 6).  The assurances were subsequently 

shared with Alcolezzione investors during the Annual Meeting and footnoted in 

the company’s pro-forma financial statements.  (R. at 5).  The assurances were 
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also posted on the “Investor Relations” section of Alcolezzione’s website, which 

contains financial statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor 

materials in both Italian and English.  (R. at 2,5).  The “Investor Relations” 

section was created in preparation for Alcolezzione’s 2011 initial public offering 

(“IPO”) and was published in both Italian and English.  (R. at 3).   

Following the introduction of Frizzatisimo, Alcolezzione’s stock, as well as 

Hansen Bank and Trust’s ADRs, climbed steadily upward until March of 2018, 

when the Alcollezione management team received word that all production of 

the Frizzantissimo would have to halt, effective immediately, due to 

noncompliance with quality control standards of production.  (R. at 6).  

Alcolezzione’s stock price subsequently tumbled by nearly 29%, while Hansen 

Bank and Trust’s ADR price dropped nearly 27%.  (R. at 6).  As a result of the 

stock price fall and after speaking privately with various stakeholders, all three 

senior executives stepped down from their roles.  (R. at 6).  

Procedural History 

On September 6, 2018, plaintiff-appellants Robert “Bobby” Maxelrod, the 

Connecticut-based manager of Maxe Capital, and those similarly situated 

(collectively “the hedge fund managers” or “petitioners”) filed a complaint in the 

United States District Court for the District of Fordham.  (R. at 7).  Defendant-

respondent Ava Cato entered a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, alleging that (1) the 

case should be dismissed on the merits because Cato was not involved in any 

U.S. transaction within the purview of U.S. securities law; and (2) the 

complaint failed to allege a primary violation of Rule 10b-5 because Cato was 
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not the “maker” of the allegedly fraudulent statement.  (R. at 8).  The District 

court, (Cocchiaro, J.) denied Cato’s 12(b)(6) motion.  (R. at 8).  Cato appealed 

the district court’s decision.  (R. at 8).  The Circuit court, (Kohandel-Shirazi) 

overturned the decision of the district court, granting Cato’s 12(b)(6) motion.  

(R. at 9).  In doing so, it found that a determination that a transaction is 

domestic is sufficient for extraterritorial application of section 10b-5.  (R. at 9).  

It also found that sections (a) and (c) of rule 10b-5 are mutually exclusive and 

neither subjects Cato to primary liability.  (R. at 23).  The hedge fund managers 

now appeal to this Court seeking a denial of Cato’s 12(b)(6) motion.  (R. at 9).   

Standard of Review 

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss under the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted 

as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal citations removed).  The appellate standard 

of reviewing a 12(b)(6) dismissal for failure to state a claim is de novo.  

Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 872 (8th Cir. 2010).   

Summary of the Argument 

The court should deny Ms. Cato’s 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss on two 

grounds.  First, the court should find that sale of Alcolezzione’s ADRs in the 

American securities market could have been a domestic transaction sufficient 

to justify the SEC’s extraterritorial application of 10b-5.  It should do so 

because the facts of the case at bar distinguish it from Parkcentral, as the 
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American filings that took place render the transactions domestic as a matter 

of law, and the extraterritorial enforcement by the SEC will promote, rather 

than hinder, international cooperation in securities enforcement.  

The court should also find that Ms. Cato’s authorship of fraudulent 

regulatory assurances qualifies as primary liability under 10b-5 subsections (a) 

and (c) for scheme liability.  The 2019 opinion in Lorenzo provides a nearly 

indistinguishable set of facts to the present case, setting the precedent that 

dissemination of misleading statements with an intent to defraud can fall 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  Allowing a finding of primary liability in scheme 

liability cases of this type would prevent acts of intentional deception from 

going unpunished, consequently increasing investor confidence and promoting 

the stability of U.S. and global markets. 

Argument 

I. Petitioners incurred irrevocable liability in the United States under 
Morrison’s transactional test under both the plausible inference prong, 
and the title taking within the United States prong. 

A. The facts of the case at bar distinguish it from Parkcentral because 
the plaintiffs here incurred irrevocable liability as a result of the 
defendant's action. 

The Court in Morrison adopted a transactional test to clearly determine 

whether it would be appropriate to enforce federal securities laws like §10(b) on 

securities with foreign origins.  Morrison v. Nat'l Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 

247, 269–70 (2010).  By adopting the transactional test, Morrison improved 

upon the Second Circuit’s conduct test and effects test by replacing the 
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“admixture” of two “vague formulations” with a straightforward one.  Id. at 257–

58.  The transactional test has two prongs: “whether the purchase or sale is 

made in the United States, or involves a security listed on a domestic 

exchange.”  Id. at 269–70.  Thanks to the transactional test, “[§]10(b) reaches 

the use of a manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance only in connection 

with the purchase or sale of a security listed on an American stock exchange, 

and the purchase or sale of any other security in the United States.”  Id. at 

273.  Morrison also uses the phrase “domestic transactions in other securities” 

to refer to facts fitting the “United States purchase or sale” prong.  Id. at 268.   

            The Fourteenth Circuit ruled below that Petitioners’ “purchase of 

Alcollezione ADRs [was] irrefutably domestic . . . . and thus passes Morrison’s 

transactional test.”  (R. at 15).  Petitioners do not dispute this ruling; 

Petitioners instead acknowledge that it aligns with the legislative intent behind 

the 2010 Dodd-Frank Act amendment to the 1934 Acts such that it permits 

§10(b) to be applied to securities with foreign origins.  Sec. & Exch. Comm'n v. 

Scoville, 913 F.3d 1204, 1215, 1224 (10th Cir. 2019) (citing 15 U.S.C. §78j(b), 

15 U.S.C. §78aa(b)).  Although Morrison did not elaborate “as to what 

constitutes ‘domestic transactions in other securities,’” the Second Circuit has 

clarified “that ‘domestic transactions’ are those involving securities in which (1) 

irrevocable liability is incurred in the United States, or (2) title passes within 

the United States.”  Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 79 (2d Cir. 2018) (citing 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267; Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 

677 F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir. 2012)).  “Irrevocable liability, for section 10(b) 
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purposes, attaches . . . when ‘the parties obligated themselves to perform what 

they had agreed to perform even if the formal performance of their agreement is 

to be after a lapse of time.’”  Giunta, 893 F.3d at 79 (quoting Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d at 67–68); United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 137 (3d Cir. 2015) 

(holding “that irrevocable liability establishes the location of a securities 

transaction”).  To survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a pleading need only 

“allege[] facts giving rise to the plausible inference that irrevocable liability was 

incurred or title was transferred within the United States.”  Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d at 69.  The plausible inference will be supported by “‘facts concerning 

the formation of the contracts, the placement of purchase orders, [] or the 

exchange of money’”, Giunta, 893 F.3d at 79 (quoting Absolute Activist, 677 

F.3d at 67–68), but it will not be supported by whether or not the foreign entity 

that the domestic transaction references was involved in the transaction. 

Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 949 (9th Cir. 2018) (“[B]ecause we are 

to examine the location of the transaction, it does not matter that a foreign 

entity was not engaged in the transaction.”).  

  Before the opinion veered into problematic territory, the Second Circuit 

in Parkcentral thoughtfully covered several legally and logically sound reasons 

why Morrison’s “domestic transactions” prong requires more than the purchase 

or sale of a security in the United States.  Parkcentral Glob. Hub Ltd. v. Porsche 

Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 214–16 (2d Cir. 2014) (citing Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 265–69) (providing the following reasons: (1) “the presumption against 

extraterritoriality dictates that § 10(b) has no extraterritorial application”; (2) “a 
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rule making the statute applicable whenever the plaintiff's suit is predicated on 

a domestic transaction . . . would require courts to apply the statute to wholly 

foreign activity clearly subject to regulation by foreign authorities solely 

because a plaintiff in the United States made a domestic transaction”; (3) “[t]he 

language the [Morrison] Court used was consistent with the description of 

necessary elements rather than sufficient conditions”; (4) “if an application of 

[§10(b)] would obviously be incompatible with foreign regulation, and Congress 

has not addressed that conflict, the application is one which Congress did not 

intend”).  However, the Second Circuit in Parkcentral—as well as the 

Fourteenth by following it—cut against the letter and the spirit of Morrison by 

refusing “to proffer a test that will reliably determine when a particular 

invocation of § 10(b) will be deemed appropriately domestic or impermissibly 

extraterritorial,” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217, because Morrison adopted “a 

clear test” that foreign regulators could reference to determine if §10(b) might 

apply to securities from their countries, at 561 U.S. at 269. 

For practical purposes, applying a case-by-case requirement to the 

“domestic transactions” prong dulls the bright line that Morrison draws 

between cases which do fit that prong—transactions taking place in America—

and those transactions abroad which do not.  See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 268; 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217.  In fact, Parkcentral’s case-by-case approach is 

an understandable but unacceptable overcorrection from the Court having 

snuffed out the “north star of [their] §10(b) jurisprudence” just four years 

earlier.  See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257; Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217. 
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The facts of Parkcentral are so distinct from those of the case at bar that 

the Fourteenth Circuit erred in considering it persuasive.  (R. at 15).  In fact, 

the Parkcentral facts are so unusual that the Second Circuit itself has already 

fleshed out the distinctions in a subsequent case that, additionally, has closer 

facts to those of this case.  Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82.  The upshot is that the level 

of “foreign entanglement as presented in Parkcentral” was so high that the 

Second Circuit had no choice but to recognize that “the dominance of the 

foreign elements” in Parkcentral meant the transaction at issue could not have 

been domestic.  Id. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216–17.  Indeed, Parkcentral 

had significantly more foreign nations and stock exchanges involved because 

those shares “trade[d] on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and international 

stock exchanges in Switzerland, Luxembourg, and the UK.”  Parkcentral, 763 

F.3d at 207 (internal quotations removed).  Meanwhile, both Giunta and the 

instant case involve only one other country: the Bahamas in Giunta and Italy 

here.  893 F.3d at 76; (R. at 3).  Additionally, none of the relevant violative 

Parkcentral conduct occurred in the United States or at the hands of 

Americans.  Giunta,  893 F.3d at 82 (citing Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 201).  Like 

Dingman in Giunta, Marconi and Factor are all U.S. citizens with “substantial 

domestic contacts.” Giunta,  893 F.3d at 82; (R. at 2–3).  But see (R. at 15) 

(“Here, however, all relevant conduct besides [Petitioners’] unilateral decision to 

purchase Alcollezione’s unsponsored ADRs occurred in Italy and by Italian 

defendants.”).  Critical meetings and conversations involving Dingman in his 

case and Marconi and Factor here took place in New York City.  Giunta,  893 
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F.3d at 82; (R. at 3).  Furthermore, both Marconi and Factor spent the majority 

of their lives and careers in America.  (R. at 2–3).  And, unlike the Parkcentral 

conduct that “was already the basis of several foreign investigations and 

enforcement actions,” neither the Bahamas in Giunta nor Italy here have 

launched investigations into the fraudulent conduct at issue.  Giunta, 893 F.3d 

at 82; (R. at 7).  Therefore, the Fourteenth Circuit erred by holding that the 

conduct at issue was too foreign for Petitioners to have incurred irrevocable 

liability in the United States.   

B. Enforcing rule 10b-5 law in cases like this one will support 
international cooperation in securities law enforcement. 

While the Circuit court expressed concern that extraterritorial 

enforcement of 10b-5 could frustrate or impair local enforcement, the opposite 

result would be more likely.  The SEC is one of 124 signatories to the 

Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding Concerning Consultation and 

Cooperation and the Exchange of Information (MMOU). (Multilateral 

Memorandum of Understanding Concerning Consultation and Cooperation and 

the Exchange of Information, May 2002 [revised May 2012]).  The MMOU was 

drafted in 2002 by the International Organization of Securities Commissions in 

order to increase international cooperation by regulatory bodies.  Id.  

Material misrepresentations and other fraudulent or manipulative 

practices fall within the scope of the MMOU.  As a result, civil enforcement of 

American securities law effectively lends the resources of the American 

government to foreign regulatory bodies because the SEC, following the MMOU 
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and its own internal policies, will share the information that it obtains during 

investigations, including transaction history, company records, and compelled 

testimony, when appropriate.  Id.  While the value of such information to an 

Italian regulatory body could be significant, possible future prosecution by the 

Italian government would not constitute duplicative litigation because the 

plaintiffs, harms, and applicable laws would all be different. 

C. The process for registering Unsponsored ADRs and distributing 
them via market maker satisfies both the plausible inference 
level of the irrevocable liability prong, and the title taking within 
the United States prong. 

            The nature of the securities involved here satisfies the plausible 

inference requirement, Giunta, 893 F.3d at 79 (citing Absolute Activist, 677 

F.3d at 67–68), because Section 10(b) concerns itself with transactions. 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267 (citing 15 U.S.C §78j) (“Those purchase-and-sale 

transactions are the objects of the statute's solicitude. It is those transactions 

that the statute seeks to regulate, . . .” (internal quotations removed)); Toshiba, 

896 F.3d at 949 (“For the Exchange Act to apply, there must be a domestic 

transaction; that [foreign entity] Toshiba may ultimately be found not liable for 

causing the loss in value to the ADRs does not mean that the Act is 

inapplicable to the transactions.”); (R. at 26).   

To register an ADR and “directly tie[] [it] to the value of the foreign stock,” 

(R. at 28), a depository must complete Form F–6 and submit it to the SEC. 17 

C.F.R. § 239.36.  Once the filing is completed and the ADRs have been issued, 

“[t]he holder of the ADRs is entitled to withdraw the deposited securities at any 
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time,” subject to certain “condition[s] subsequent.”  § 239.36(a)(1)–(3) (listing 

conditions subsequent such as “temporary delays caused by closing transfer 

books of the depositary or the issuer of the deposited securities or the deposit 

of shares in connection with voting at a shareholders' meeting, or the payment 

of dividends”); see Giunta, 893 F.3d at 80–81 (citing Choi v. Tower Research 

Capital LLC, 890 F.3d 60, 68 (2d Cir. 2018) (“[In Choi,] [w]e rejected the 

contention that the parties had not incurred irrevocable liability in the United 

States because the foreign exchange could cancel or modify a trade at any time 

prior to the ‘clearing and settlement’ abroad. . . . [T]he fact that the parties' 

obligations were ultimately subject to a condition subsequent does not mean 

that either party was effectively ‘free to revoke its . . . acceptance,’ or change its 

mind until the approval of the shares abroad.”).  Because ADRs are “directly 

tied to the value of the foreign stock,” (R. at 28), the purchaser is exposed to 

irrevocable liability upon “the exchange of money,” conditions subsequent 

notwithstanding.  Giunta, 893 F.3d at 79 (citing Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 

70).  

  “Depositary shares registered on Form F–6 . . . are exempt from section 

12(g) of the Act.”  17 C.F.R. § 240.12g3-2(d) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)).  In the 

case of registering an unsponsored ADR, the depository institution can file 

Form F–6 without the foreign issuer’s consent or knowledge.  Toshiba, 896 F.3d 

at 941 (citing American Depositary Receipts, Securities Act Release No. 33-

6984, Exchange Act Release No. 34-29226, 56 Fed. Reg. 24420-04 (May 30, 

1991). “ADRs are traded in the OTC market through market makers”.  56 Fed. 
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Reg. 24420-04.  See generally 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(38) (defining “market maker” 

as “any specialist permitted to act as a dealer, . . . and any dealer who, with 

respect to a security, holds himself out . . . as being willing to buy and sell 

such security for his own account on a regular or continuous basis”).  In the 

case of unregistered ADRs, depository institutions act in the “market maker” 

role where they play an intermediary role in making a market for their ADRs.  

See § 78c(a)(38); Georgiou, 777 F.3d at 136 (describing “transactions [which 

require] the involvement of a purchaser or seller working with a market maker 

and committing to a transaction in the United States”).  Where “an American 

market maker bought the stock from the seller and sold it to the buyer,” courts 

are more likely to find that the buyer suffered irrevocable liability domestically. 

Id. at 136–37. 

 Here, Petitioners engaged in a transaction in the OTC market with 

Hansen Bank and Trust to purchase ADRs which were “directly tied to the 

value of [Alcolezzione] stocks.”  (R. at 6, 28).  Because the ADRs were 

unregistered, Hansen acted as a market maker in the transaction by serving as 

intermediary for Alcolezzione.  (R. at 6); see § 78c(a)(38); Georgiou, 777 F.3d at 

136.  By transacting with this market maker, Petitioners both took title to the 

shares and incurred irrevocable liability within the United States the moment 

they “place[d] purchase orders” with Hansen and had an “exchange of money” 

with them.  Giunta, 893 F.3d at 79 (citing Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 68–70).  

After that transaction, Petitioners had taken title to the Alcolezzione shares 

because they were “entitled to withdraw the deposited securities at any time.”  
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§ 239.36(a).  Taken together, these “relevant facts” exceed the “plausible 

inference” required for Petitioners to survive a motion to dismiss.  Giunta, 893 

F.3d at 79 (citing Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 68–69).  Therefore, Petitioners 

respectfully request that The Court reverse the Second Circuit’s decision. 

II. Defendant’s actions qualify as primary liability under 10b-5 
subsections (a) and (c) for scheme liability.  
 

The Circuit court erred in reversing the district court’s holding that 

Defendant is primarily liable under 10b-5 subsections (a) and (c).  An employee 

who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false or misleading statement into 

investor materials, is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), 

even if that individual is not the maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 

10-b(b).  17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  Accordingly, after examining the “relevant 

language, precedent, and purpose” of 10b-5, it remains heavily supported that 

Defendant is primarily liable under 10b-5(a) and (c) for disseminating 

fraudulent statements regarding the optics of Frizzantissimo to investors and 

to the general public.  See Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 

1100 (2019).  The 10b-5 provisions are not mutually exclusive and the 

Defendant’s conduct is within their scope of liability for fraud. (R. at 16–17). 

Section 10b-5 makes it “unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly . . 

. [t]o use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security 

registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so registered, 

or any securities-based swap agreement any manipulative or deceptive device or 

contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 
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may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the 

protection of investors.”  15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (emphasis added).  

In Rule 10b-5, the Securities & Exchange Commission’s (SEC’s) 

implementing regulation, the Rule is further defined as “unlawful for any 

person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national securities 

exchange, (a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) To make 

any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or (c) To engage in 

any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a 

fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of 

any security.”  17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  “The relevant [10b-5] provisions ban two 

broad categories of conduct.  The first category involves the making of a 

materially untrue or misleading statement. The second category involves 

employment of a fraudulent or deceptive scheme.”  Malouf v. Sec. & Exch. 

Comm'n, 933 F.3d 1248, 1259 (10th Cir. 2019).  Provision 10b-5(b) proscribed 

the first category of conduct, while 10b-5(a) and (c) proscribe the second 

category.  Id. (citing Lorenzo in general).  
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A.   The 2019 opinion in Lorenzo provides a nearly indistinguishable 
set of facts to the present case, setting the precedent that 
dissemination of misleading statements with an intent to defraud 
can fall under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  

“[The] line [adopted by the Court in Lorenzo] is just as administrable [as 

Janus’s neat division between primary violators and too far removed actors]: 

Those who disseminate false statements with intent to defraud are primarily 

liable under Rules 10b–5(a) and (c), § 10(b), and § 17(a)(1), even if they are 

secondarily liable under Rule 10b–5(b).” Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 139 S. 

Ct. 1094, 1104 (2019). “[D]issemination of false or misleading material is easily 

[expansive, including] an ‘artful stratagem’ or a ‘plan,’ ‘devised’ to defraud an 

investor under subsection (a). . . . [and] [t]he words ‘act’ and ‘practice’ in 

subsection (c) are similarly expansive.”  Id. at 1101 (referencing Webster’s 

dictionary definitions to define the Rule 10b-5 subsections).  

In Lorenzo, the Court considered “whether those individuals who do not 

‘make’ the [10b-5(b)] statements (as Janus defined ‘make’), but who 

disseminate false or misleading statements to potential investors with the 

intent to defraud, can be found to have violated the other parts of Rule 10b-5, 

subsections (a) and (c), as well as related provisions of the securities laws.”  Id. 

at 1099.  Lorenzo involved an investment banker sending emails to prospective 

investors describing a debenture offering with a description that an investment 

in Waste2Energy includes $10 million in “confirmed assets,” when the 

company had publicly disclosed weeks before that its total assets amounted to 

$370, 552. Id. 
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The Court, “[a]fter examining the relevant language, precedent, and 

purpose” concluded that “dissemination of false or misleading statements with 

intent to defraud can fall within the scope of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 

10b-5, as well as the relevant statutory provisions.  Id.  In [their] view, that is 

so even if the disseminator did not “make” the statements and consequently 

falls outside subsection (b) of the rule.”  Id. (emphasis added).  To come to this 

conclusion the Court looked at Lorenzo’s “sending [of] emails he understood to 

contain material untruths” as employing a scheme to defraud under Rule 10b-

5(a) and engaging in an “act” that “operate[d] . . . as a fraud or deceit” under 

Rule 10b-5(c).  Id. at 1101.  The Court interpreted the provisions of Rule 10b-5 

to broadly capture a “wide range of conduct” and forewarned about problems 

applying the broad provisions in borderline cases.  Id.   

Here, Petitioner agrees with the dissenting opinion of Circuit Judge 

DeQuinzio in that the “facts presented in this case fit squarely within the 

Lorenzo Court’s finding that a disseminator may still be subject to scheme 

liability under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), even if she is not subject to liability for 

making a false statement under subsection (b).  (R. at 30).  The Circuit court 

held that Petitioners failed to allege a primary violation against the Defendant 

under the precedent of Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 

U.S. 135 (2011) (R. at 20).  In doing so, the Circuit Court mistakenly distanced 

this case from Lorenzo, a 2019 opinion that is applicable and rather 

indistinguishable from the present case. 
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While the Circuit court believed a finding of primary liability here would 

oppose Lorenzo’s express acknowledgement of the continued viability of Janus 

in this context, Janus is distinguishable from the present case.  In Janus, the 

Court “held [(1)] that the ‘maker’ of a ‘statement’ is the ‘person or entity with 

ultimate authority over the statement[, and (2)] that subsection (b) did not 

(under the circumstances) cover an investment adviser who helped draft 

misstatements issued by a different entity that controlled the statements’ 

content.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103 (emphasis in original) (quoting 564 U.S. 

135, 142, 146–48).  The Court “said nothing about the Rule’s application to the 

dissemination of false or misleading information. . . . [and] that Janus would 

remain relevant (and preclude liability) where an individual neither makes nor 

disseminates false information — provided, of course, that the individual is not 

involved in some other form of fraud.”  Id. at 1103.    

The Circuit court, however, characterized this case as satisfying what the 

Lorenzo court deemed a “borderline case” not worthy of its application. (R. at 

22).  The Circuit court interpreted the provisions of Rule 10b-5 to broadly 

capture a “wide range of conduct” and forewarned against applying the broad 

provisions in borderline cases, where the actor was not a disseminator.  See 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101.  The Court went on to specify a “borderline” 

example as an actor tangentially involved in dissemination, like that of a 

mailroom clerk who merely puts the statement into an envelope without 

knowing what it says.  Id.  Defendant’s involvement in Alecollezione’s 

fraudulent conduct was far less tangential than that of a mailroom clerk. 
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Defendant joined Alcollezione as a “bright young attorney . . . who had recently 

graduated at the top of her class at Sapienza Università di Roma.”  (R. at 2).  As 

the sole legal voice at Alcollezione, she was the only employee responsible for 

maintaining the company’s compliance with beverage quality control 

regulations.  (R. at 2).  The role Defendant played within this fraudulent act as 

the sole in-house legal counsel is much different than that of a mailroom clerk, 

who simply sends the documents that others drafted without knowledge of 

their material.  Rather, Defendant wrote the false assurances that were 

disseminated through the financial statements, presented in the Annual 

Meeting slideshow, and printed on the website and in an accompanying memo.  

(R. at 6).  Her direct involvement in drafting and publicizing false material 

garners an application of Lorenzo.  

Thus, the present case is not a borderline case; rather it falls within the 

same line of interpretation as Lorenzo because of their indistinguishable facts, 

rather than that of Janus.  Just as Lorenzo “sent false statements directly to 

investors, invited them to follow up with questions, and did so in his capacity 

as vice president of an investment banking company,” Defendant sent false 

assurances that the Frizzantissimo product was to be approved and ready for 

market in 2019.  Id. at 1101. (R. at 5).  These false assurances were made with 

the knowledge that compliance with extensive regulations for beverage control 

“would be an uphill climb” and that ultimate compliance long-term would be 

“unlikely.”  (R. at 5).  “Lorenzo’s conduct involved the direct transmission of 
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false statements to prospective investors intended to induce reliance” as did 

Defendant’s.  Id. at 1104.  

Defendant directly transmitted false statements regarding the projected 

compliance of Frizzantissimo in a disclosure that was inserted into a released 

slide deck for the Annual Meeting, included them in footnotes to financial 

statements, and further disseminated them in an accompanying press release.  

(R. at 5).  In addition, the false statements were included in the “Investor 

Relations” section of the Alcollezione website, a page created in preparation for 

the company’s 2011 initial public offering (“IPO”), which was created as a way 

of transparently posting “financial statements, corporate disclosures, and other 

investor materials in both Italian and English.”  (R. at 3).  The dissemination of 

false material on such a public forum, one that an investor would review prior 

to investment, illustrates an intentional dissemination of information, which 

Defendant “understood to contain material untruths” and which constitutes a 

scheme to defraud under Rule 10b-5(a) and an “act” that “operate[d] . . . as a 

fraud or deceit” under Rule 10b-5(c).  Lorenzo,139 S. Ct. at 1101.  As the sole 

legal representative of the company, Defendant was not subject to any 

apparent oversight when drafting her legal assurances. Defendant’s drafted 

assurances were not reviewed or changed by her superiors.  Rather, they were 

condensed, without superior review, into mediums that were directly dispersed 

to the accessing public.  (R. at 6).  Janus remains viable with respect to 

violations of 10b-5(b) and would not be disrupted by a finding of primary 
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liability here, in a private action under 10b-5(a) and (c) for the dissemination of 

fraudulent statements.   

B.    Petitioner appropriately brought a private right of action for 
Defendant’s primary liability under Rule 10b-5.  

 
“In a typical § 10(b) private action a plaintiff must prove (1) a material 

misrepresentation or omission by the defendant; (2) scienter; (3) a connection 

between the misrepresentation or omission and the purchase or sale of a 

security; (4) reliance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) economic 

loss; and (6) loss causation.”  Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Sci.-Atlanta, 552 

U.S. 148, 157 (2008).  “Reliance by the plaintiff upon the defendant's deceptive 

acts is an essential element of the § 10(b) private cause of action. It ensures 

that, for liability to arise, the ‘requisite causal connection between a 

defendant's misrepresentation and a plaintiff's injury’ exists as a predicate for 

liability.  Id. at 159 (citing Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 243 (1988)).  A 

rebuttable presumption of reliance can be found in two circumstances: (1) “if 

there is an omission of a material fact by one with a duty to disclose, the 

investor to whom the duty was owed need not provide specific proof of reliance. 

. . . [; or (2)] under the fraud-on-the-market doctrine, reliance is presumed 

when the statements at issue become public.  The public information is 

reflected in the market price of the security.  Then it can be assumed that an 

investor who buys or sells stock at the market price relies upon the statement.”  

Id. (finding that in Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC, “[n]either presumption 

[applied].  Defendants had no duty to disclose; and their deceptive acts were 
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not communicated to the public. No member of the investing public had 

knowledge, either actual or presumed, of Defendants' deceptive acts during the 

relevant times.”). 

Under its authority in § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 

SEC constructed Rule 10b–5. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).  Although neither Rule 10b–5 

nor § 10(b) expressly creates a private right of action, this Court has held that 

‘a private right of action is implied under § 10(b).’”  Janus Capital Grp., Inc, 564 

U.S. at 141–42 (citing Superintendent of Ins. of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Casualty 

Co.,404 U.S. 6, 13, n. 9 (1971)).  While “[r]ule 10b–5's private right of action 

does not include suits against aiders and abettors,” Id. at 143 (citing Cent. 

Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994)), 

“[a]ny person or entity, including a lawyer, accountant, or bank, who employs a 

manipulative device or makes a material misstatement (or omission) on which a 

purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable as a primary violator under 

10b–5, assuming all of the requirements for primary liability under Rule 10b–5 

are met.”  Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 191 (emphasis added).  See Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1104 (citing Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 191) (“Lorenzo suggests that 

classifying dissemination as a primary violation would inappropriately subject 

peripheral players in fraud (including him, naturally) to substantial liability.  

We suspect the investors who received Lorenzo’s e-mails would not view the 

deception so favorably. And as Central Bank itself made clear, even a bit 

participant in the securities markets ‘may be liable as a primary violator under 

[Rule] 10b–5’ so long as ‘all of the requirements for primary liability . . . are 
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met.’”); Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC, 552 U.S. at 158 (“The § 10(b) implied 

private right of action does not extend to aiders and abettors. The conduct of a 

secondary actor must satisfy each of the elements or preconditions for liability.”).  

The Court in Lorenzo did not believe “[their] decision create[d] a serious 

anomaly or otherwise weaken[ed] the distinction between primary and 

secondary liability.  For one thing, it is hardly unusual for the same conduct to 

be a primary violation with respect to one offense and aiding and abetting with 

respect to another.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103–04 (providing the following 

example for clarification: “John, for example, might sell Bill an unregistered 

firearm in order to help Bill rob a bank, under circumstances that make him 

primarily liable for the gun sale and secondarily liable for the bank robbery.”).  

Any suggestion that those who disseminate false statements with an intent to 

defraud should be “held secondarily liable . . . will, far too often, prove illusory.”  

Id. at 1104.  By holding that individuals who fall out of 10b-5(b) as “makers” 

can still be found to be primarily liable under 10b-5(a) & (c), the Court 

extended the claims private plaintiffs can pursue.  See (R. at 19); see also Jay 

B. Sykes, Lies and Schemes: Supreme Court Expands Securities Fraud Liability, 

CONG. RES. SERV. (Apr. 24, 2019), https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/LSB10293.pdf 

(“However, by holding that persons who are not primarily liable under Rule 

10b-5(b) can nevertheless violate the relevant scheme liability provisions, the 

Court extended the range of defendants that private plaintiffs can pursue in 

securities fraud actions.).  
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            The Circuit Court claimed that because Lorenzo was an SEC 

enforcement action, the distinction between primary and secondary liability 

mattered less there than it does here in a private Section 10(b) action.  (R. at 

22).  Because Defendant satisfies the requirements under the Rule for primary 

liability, Petitioners have the “luxury” of pursuing a private action under Rule 

10b-5.  In the present case, there is evidence sufficient to find Defendant 

primarily liable under 10b-5.  The false assurances constituted a (1) material 

misrepresentation by the Defendant; (2) that was known to be false after “a 

diligent research assessment of the current Italian regulatory landscape”; (3) 

whose public dissemination of false information led to the stock (and the ADRs) 

soaring over 8% in after-hours trading after the Annual Meeting; (4) because 

investors relied on the Annual Meeting’s presentation, the financial statements, 

and the “Investor Relations” information on the company website to base their 

investments; (5) upon which the false assurances led to severe financial losses 

in 2018; (6) that were directly caused by the fraudulent activity of Defendant. It 

does not take “judicial gymnastics” to apply the precedent of the Supreme 

Court. (R. at 20–21).  Because Defendant satisfies the requirements for a 

finding of primary liability under 10b-5, and because of the Court’s precedent 

as set in Lorenzo last year, Defendant is primarily liable for scheme liability.   

While the Circuit court also characterized drafting fraudulent regulatory 

assurances as failing to be a “knowing or intentional practice,” Petitioners find 

Defendant’s activity to be knowing and intentional.  Following the initial idea of 

Frizzantissimo as a new product, Defendant, with her biannual review looming, 
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began a “diligent research assessment of the current Italian regulatory 

landscape and concluded that it “would be an uphill climb” and while possible 

in the long-term, it “seemed unlikely in the short-term.”  (R. at 5).  After 

knowing that there was an “unlikely” chance Frizzantissimo would comply with 

regulatory standards, Defendant condensed assurances expressing that “the 

product was to be approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 

2018.”  (R. at 6).  With a three person team running Alcollezione’s operations, 

the responsibilities are large and the oversight is small.  Because Defendant 

was the sole legal voice in the operations, she was responsible for obtaining 

compliance with regulatory measures and with properly conveying this lack of 

compliance to the investors.  Defendant’s assurances led Alcollezione’s stock to 

soar over 8% in after-hours trading (R. at 6), which led Petitioners to initially 

seek $6.1 million in compensatory damages.  (R. at 7).  The argument for 

Defendant to be found primarily liable is only further strengthened when 

considering the construction of Rule 10b-5.   

C.   A basic analysis of the text of Rule 10b-5 supports petitioner’s 
position in that the Rule’s subsections are not mutually exclusive. 

  
The construction of Rule 10b-5 “would [make it] seem obvious that the 

words in these [10b-5] provisions are, as ordinarily used, sufficiently broad to 

include within their scope the dissemination of false or misleading information 

with the intent to defraud.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101.  It should go without 

saying that at least some conduct amounts to ‘employ[ing’ a ‘device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud’ under subsection (a) as well as ‘engag[ing] in a[n] act . . . 
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which operates . . . as a fraud’ under subsection (c).”  Id.  The “Rule’s expansive 

language . . . [and its] considerable overlap suggest[ed] [they] should not 

hesitate to hold that [] conduct ran afoul of [both] subsections (a) and (c)” but 

not subsection (b).  Id. at 1102.  Subsection (b) of Rule 10b-5 does not 

“exclusively regulate[] conduct involving false or misleading statements.”  Id.  

To not allow liability to be imposed on a disseminator of false statements, who 

fails to be the “maker” of the statements under Janus, “would mean those who 

disseminate false statements with the intent to cheat investors might escape 

liability under the Rule altogether.”  Id. at 1103.   

An “escape [from] liability altogether . . . is not what Congress intended. 

Rather, Congress intended to root out all manner of fraud in the securities 

industry. And it gave to the Commission the tools to accomplish that job.”  Id. 

at 1104.  This intent is evident through the Congressional record from the 

1934 Act, as  “[t]he [House] Report [to the 1934 Act] [] reveal[ed] with respect to 

the specified practices, an overall congressional intent to prevent ‘manipulative 

and deceptive practices which . . . fulfill no useful function’ and to create 

private actions for damages stemming from ‘illicit practices,’ where the 

defendant has not acted in good faith.”  Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 

185, 206 (1976) (citing H.R.Rep.No.1383, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., 10-11, 20-21 

(1934) (H.R. 9323)).  The Court in Ernst determined that “[t]here is no 

indication that Congress intended anyone to be made liable for such practices 

unless he acted other than in good faith,” but emphasized that “[o]f course 

subsection (c) is a catch-all clause to prevent manipulative devices . . . [and] 
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there is [no] objection to that kind of clause.  The Commission should have the 

authority to deal with new manipulative devices.”  Id. at 202–03 (citing the 

Hearings on H.R. 7852 and H.R. 8720 before the House Committee on 

Interstate and Foreign Commerce, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., 115 (1934)). 

The Circuit court held that a “basic analysis of the text of Rule 10b-5 

supports” their position that Defendant did not engage in conduct in violation 

of Rule 10b-5.  (R. at 21); they adopted the view that Rule 10b-5 deserves to be 

separated into subsections (a), (b), and (c) and do not allow for overlapping 

conduct. (R. at 21, “Applying the canon of construction in which ‘the specific 

governs the general,” subsection (c) operates only to frauds or deceits that do 

not involve conduct covered by subsection (b).”).  But “[the] Court and the 

Commission have long recognized considerable overlap among the subsections 

of the Rule and related provisions of the securities laws” and Rule 10b-5(b) is 

not rendered “superfluous” if misstatements that were not made by the violator 

fell out of subsection (b) and remained subject to a violation of subsections (a) 

or (c).  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102.   

D.  Allowing a finding of primary liability promotes full and accurate 
disclosure, protecting the integrity of the securities market.  

 
A discussion on policy intervenes with the discussion on the overlap of 

the provisions of 10b-5.  The Court in Lorenzo saw the futility of “disarm[ing] 

enforcement” by adopting a view of Rule 10b-5 that recognized the subsections 

as mutually exclusive, which would allow for intentional acts of deceit to go 

unpunished.  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103.  Rather, they saw “using false 
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representations to induce the purchase of securities . . .[to be] a paradigmatic 

example of securities fraud.”  Id. at 1103.  The Court failed to reconcile how a 

perspective that entertains this exclusivity would fit with the purpose of the 

securities laws, as “[a] fundamental purpose, common to these statutes, was to 

substitute a philosophy of full disclosure for the philosophy of caveat emptor 

and thus to achieve a high standard of business ethics in the securities 

industry.”  Sec. & Exch. Comm'n v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 

U.S. 180, 186 (1963) (emphasis added).   

The Exchange Act was adopted “to insure the maintenance of fair and 

honest markets in such transactions.”  15 U.S.C. § 78b.  “In drafting that 

[1934] Act, Congress expressly relied on the premise that securities markets 

are affected by information, and enacted legislation to facilitate an investor's 

reliance on the integrity of those markets.”  Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 

224, 245–46 (1988).  “No investor, no speculator, can safely buy and sell 

securities upon the exchanges without having an intelligent basis for forming 

his judgment as to the value of the securities he buys or sells. The idea of a free 

and open public market is built upon the theory that competing judgments of 

buyers and sellers as to the fair price of a security brings [sic] about a situation 

where the market price reflects as nearly as possible a just price. Just as 

artificial manipulation tends to upset the true function of an open market, so 

the hiding and secreting of important information obstructs the operation of 

the markets as indices of real value.”  Id. at 246 (citing H.R.Rep. No. 1383, at 

11).  Many court opinions have stressed how “‘[i]t requires but little 
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appreciation of what happened in this country during the 1920's and 1930's to 

realize how essential it is that the highest ethical standards prevail’ in every 

facet of the securities industry.”  Id. at 186–87 (citing Silver v. New York Stock 

Exchange, 373 U.S. 341, 366 (1963)) (emphasis added).  “[T]he darkness and 

ignorance of commercial secrecy are the conditions upon which predatory 

practices best thrive.” Capital Gains Research Bureau, 375 U.S. at 200.  

The Court has also repeatedly “emphasized that implied private actions 

provide ‘a most effective weapon in the enforcement’ of the securities laws and 

are ‘a necessary supplement to Commission action.’”  Bateman Eichler, Hill 

Richards, Inc. v. Berner, 472 U.S. 299, 310 (1985) (citing J.I. Case Co. v. Borak, 

377 U.S. 426, 432 (1964)).  On the same note, “Congress, the Executive 

Branch, and this Court, moreover, have ‘recognized that meritorious private 

actions to enforce federal antifraud securities laws are an essential supplement 

to criminal prosecutions and civil enforcement actions brought, respectively, by 

the Department of Justice and the Securities and Exchange Commission.’”  

Amgen Inc. v. Connecticut Ret. Plans & Tr. Funds, 568 U.S. 455, 478 (2013) 

(citing Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 313 (2007)) 

(emphasis added).  

It is essential to the integrity of the securities market to facilitate a 

market of full disclosure and a high standard of business ethics.  A free and 

open securities market can only properly operate when accurate information is 

accessible to investors.  By finding Defendant not liable under Rule 10b-5, the 

Court would be allowing an individual who disseminated false information to 
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investors, causing large monetary loss, to be going unpunished.  Defendant’s 

knowing violation of the securities laws represents the opposite of what the 

securities market wants to facilitate, that of high ethical standards that allow 

investors to trust the market and to be confident in their investments.  

Petitioners are entitled to use their “effective weapon” in pursuing a private 

right of action against Defendant. 

Conclusion 

  
For the foregoing reasons, we request that the Court overrule the 

appellate court’s findings and deny the appellee’s 12(b)6 motion to dismiss. 
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